No. 70414-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REED TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

SCOTT BELL and JANE DOE BELL, and their marital community; FRANK TAYLOR and JANE DOE TAYLOR, and their marital community; CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, a Professional Service Corporation,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT REED TAYLOR

Roderick C. Bond, WSBA No. 32172 Roderick Bond Law Office, PLLC 800 Bellevue Way NE, Suite 400 Bellevue, Washington 98004 Tel: (425) 591-6903 Email: rod@roderickbond.com

Attorney for Appellant Reed Taylor

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. Assignments of Error.

- 1. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment in favor of Cairneross, making unsupported findings of fact and conclusions of law, failing to consider evidence and when, at a minimum, genuine issues of material fact precluded granting summary judgment.
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion by denying Taylor's motion to amend and supplement his complaint.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.

- 1. Did the trial court err by granting summary judgment to Cairncross on the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel when Taylor had not taken inconsistent positions, the three core elements and six other considerations were not present, Cairncross was barred from asserting the defense, and genuine issues of material fact precluded applying judicial estoppel, even assuming his positions were inconsistent? [Assignment of Error No. 1]
- 2. Did the trial court err by granting summary judgment for failure to prove proximate causation when Idaho law applies to breach and proximate causation, Taylor proved proximate causation under both Idaho and Washington law, expert testimony was not required, and the issue had already been decided as a matter of law? [Assignment of Error No. 1]
- 3. Even if expert testimony is required and Washington law applies, did the trial court abuse its discretion by not considering McDermott's opinions to prove proximate causation simply because he was not licensed to practice law in Washington? [Assignment of Error No. 1]
- 4. Did the trial court err by not considering Libey's opinions and a supplemental declaration by Taylor's counsel submitted in response to newly raised issues on Cairncross' reply when both declarations were submitted before entry of the order granting summary judgment and Cairncross did object or move to strike them? [Assignment of Error No. 1]
- 5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by denying Taylor's motion to amend and supplement his complaint? [Assignment of Error No. 2]
 - **6.** Should this Court award Taylor attorney fees and costs on appeal?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Reed Taylor¹ is 76 years old and has resided in Lewiston, Idaho for over 40 years. CP 1, 587. He was the founder, CEO and majority shareholder of AIA, an Idaho corporation based in Lewiston, Idaho. CP 6, 21, 588. Cairncross was aware that Taylor "held relatively little knowledge in accounting, law or the financial affairs of [AIA]." CP 1329.

In 1995, other shareholders solicited Taylor to sell his 613,494 shares (63% of the outstanding shares) back to AIA through a stock repurchase so that they could obtain control of AIA. CP 80, 221, 588, 648, 1041, 1329-30. During the early negotiations, Taylor did not have separate counsel and he, like AIA, relied only on the Idaho Lawyers—who had jointly represented Taylor and AIA in the past. CP 76-77, 80-83. On March 7, 1995, AIA held a board and shareholder meeting regarding the repurchase of Taylor's shares. CP 79, 90-91, 205, 221. At that meeting, the shareholders authorized the repurchase of Taylor's shares, but failed to authorize the use of capital surplus. *Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 833-34. CP 79. AIA's board also advised Taylor to obtain separate counsel. CP 89, 588.

Taylor's accountant referred him to Cairncross, a Seattle firm that did not have an office in Idaho. CP 34-35, 546-47, 588. Cairncross began

¹ Taylor is unrelated to Frank Taylor and Dawson Taylor, two of Cairneross' attorneys who represented him for the 1995 sale of his shares and restructuring in 1996.

representing Taylor on March 17, 1995 and the fee agreement confirmed that it would represent him "in the matter of the sale of his stock in AIA." CP 596, 598. Cairncross never disclosed to Taylor that its attorneys representing him were not licensed to practice law in Idaho. CP 21, 309-10, 588-89, 594. Cairncross purported to represent and advise Taylor in all aspects of the stock sale, including: negotiating and drafting agreements, drafting memos, analyzing the need for a shareholder meeting, legal research, analyzing AIA's authority to enter into the agreements, drafting closing checklists, tax issues, UCC issues, drafting demand letters, and closing the transactions. CP 539-45, 588-90, 596-613, 761-63, 754-73, 791-800, 943-57, 1244-1319, 1324-26, 1329, 1352-60.

Under the final sale terms Cairncross negotiated for him, Taylor received a \$6M Note due in 10 years, a \$1.5 million down payment note, and other consideration. CP 650, 666-67. Cairncross negotiated and drafted the stock redemption agreement and ancillary agreements. CP 35, 648-98, 1329. Cairncross included thirteen required deliveries of documents prior to closing. CP 651-52. AIA was required to deliver any such documents as Cairncross may have required for the transactions, e.g., shareholder or board resolutions. CP 652. AIA's counsel was also required to deliver to Taylor a third-party closing opinion letter. CP 150-54, 651. Cairncross and AIA's counsel negotiated the content of the opinion letter,

which was addressed only to Taylor and provided that only he could rely on it.² CP 150-154, 1331. During 1995 and 1996, AIA had no earned surplus to repurchase shares under I.C. § 30-1-6. *Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 837. Nevertheless, Cairncross advised Taylor to sell his shares and close the transaction without seeing proof of compliance with I.C. § 30-1-6.³ CP 590, 759-60, 768-73, 1033-43. In 1996, Cairncross also represented Taylor in restructuring the obligations, but it did not obtain a new opinion letter for him. CP 614-47, 699-736, 702-03, 770-71, 942-61, 1037.

Although Cairncross knew "that every state has its statute restricting the use of its capital" and a shareholder meeting had been held for the purchase of Taylor's shares on July 18, 1995, it failed to ensure that AIA adopted a simple shareholder resolution authorizing the use of capital surplus pursuant to I.C. § 30-1-6. CP 200-02, 542-43, 590, 759-60, 771-73, 1036-43, 1298-1315. *Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 837-42. Nevertheless,

² "Receipt, therefore, of an opinion from the other party's counsel is no substitute for the general legal advice an opinion recipient is expected to receive from its own counsel." Glazer and Fitzgibbon on Legal Opinions, §1.3.1 at 12 (3d ed.) ("Glazer").

³ During Cairneross' representation of Taylor in 1995 and 1996, Idaho corporation share repurchases were governed by I.C. § 30-1-6, which provided in pertinent part:

A corporation shall have the right to purchase...its own shares, but purchases of its own shares, whether direct or indirect, shall be made only to the extent of unreserved and unrestricted earned surplus available therefor, and, if the articles of incorporation so permit or with the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of all shares entitled to vote thereon, to the extent of unreserved and unrestricted capital surplus available therefor.

I.C. § 30-1-6. A copy of I.C. § 30-1-6 is in the record. CP 200-01.

Cairncross drafted the agreements, advised Taylor to sign them, and advised him to close the transactions in 1995 and again for the restructuring in 1996. CP 590, 759-60, 768-73, 1036-43, 1329.

In 2007, Taylor filed suit against AIA after the \$6M Note matured and AIA refused to pay it, even though it had generated over \$67 million in revenues since he sold his shares. CP 223, 591. In early 2008, Taylor obtained a partial summary judgment against AIA on the default of the \$6M Note. CP 415. But then AIA alleged for the first time that the purchase of Taylor's shares was illegal. CP 208, 223, 415, 593. An Idaho trial court ruled that the repurchase of Taylor's shares violated I.C. § 30-1-6 and, thus, the agreements were illegal and unenforceable. CP 203-17. That court also found Taylor "was represented by counsel" and that "[t]here is no question that all parties, including [Taylor], either ignored or failed to consider I.C. § 30-1-6." CP 213, 215, 591. That Idaho court then denied Taylor's motion for reconsideration and reiterated that "Taylor was represented by [Cairneross] throughout the negotiations for, and entry into, the stock redemption agreement." CP 462. Thus, Taylor lost his right to collect the sums owed on the \$6M Note and spent over \$1,000,000 in attorney fees and costs litigating. CP 82-84, 592, 773, 1043. Taylor appealed the Idaho court's illegality decision. CP 223. On September 7, 2011, the Idaho Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision on the

illegality and unenforceability of the agreements and noted that it appeared that everyone involved missed I.C. § 30-1-6. *Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 837-44.

In October, 2009, Taylor filed suit against the Idaho Lawyers asserting claims for negligent misrepresentation, fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, malpractice and violations of the Idaho CPA, which were based on Taylor being a non-client recipient of the opinion letter and a joint client with AIA. CP 74-84, 252-77, 416, 1236-43. When the Idaho Lawyers moved for summary judgment, the Idaho trial court found that Taylor was represented by Cairncross, that he had no attorney-client relationship with the Idaho Lawyers, and dismissed all of Taylor's claims as a client—but it did allow his claim as a non-client for the incorrect opinion letter to proceed. CP 150-54, 252-97.

In March, 2012, Taylor filed suit in the King County Superior Court against Cairneross for malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty and violations of the Washington CPA. CP 1-16. The Idaho Lawyers renewed their motion for summary judgment on the opinion letter claim and submitted Taylor's complaint against Cairneross to the Idaho trial court. CP 417, 925-41, 981-82, 962-1002. The Idaho trial court ruled again that the Idaho Lawyers owed a duty to Taylor as a non-client for the incorrect opinion letter, but again rejected his position as a client of the Idaho lawyers and found again that Cairneross was his separate counsel. CP 970-

77, 987-1002. In early 2013, the Idaho Supreme Court allowed the Idaho Lawyers to appeal Taylor's claim as a non-client on the incorrect opinion letter, which is now pending. CP 535-36, 1009-14.

In February, 2013, Cairncross moved for summary judgment in the present action asserting the undisclosed defenses of judicial estoppel and an alleged limited scope of representation of Taylor.⁴ CP 23-24, 33-68. Relying on portions of three paragraphs in Taylor's affidavit from the Idaho trial court, Cairncross argued that Taylor had taken inconsistent positions in that Idaho court and that his claims here should be dismissed based on judicial estoppel. CP 53-56, 74-84, 252-97. Taylor moved to amend to include new claims and declaratory relief based on Cairncross' new defenses. CP 313-340, 869. The trial court denied amendment, even though Cairncross presented no evidence of actual prejudice, bad faith or other basis to deny that motion. CP 316-40, 869-71, 912-14.

Taylor opposed Cairncross' motion for summary judgment and filed a cross-motion. CP 343-839. Taylor also submitted expert opinions from Professor Richard T. McDermott ("McDermott"), who has extensive experience in multi-jurisdictional corporate law and third-party opinion practice in large transactions. CP 747-84. Cairncross asserted for the first

⁴ Bell testified, for the first time, that Cairncross *only* "assisted with the remaining negotiations and with 'papering' the transaction." CP 35, 538-45, 1324-36, 1358-60.

time in its reply that McDermott was not licensed in Washington. CP 65, 881. The trial court orally dismissed Taylor's claims based on judicial estoppel and for lack of proximate causation because McDermott was not licensed to practice law in Washington. RP 63-72. Then Cairncross first asserted in its proposed order that the trial court was misled. CP 1044-61. In response to the new issues, Taylor submitted opinions from Gary J. Libey ("Libey"), a respected Washington attorney with over 35 years of experience in cross-border Idaho transactions and opinion letters, and a supplemental declaration by Taylor's counsel with additional pleadings and deposition transcripts to show that the trial court was not misled. CP 916-1061. Libey agreed with McDermott's opinions and rendered his own. CP 1037-43. Despite Taylor's objections, the trial court signed a formal order granting summary judgment. CP 1044-66. Taylor moved for reconsideration, but the trial court denied that motion without explanation. CP 1069-81, 1090. Taylor timely appealed. CP 1082-89, 1091-99.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by dismissing Taylor's claims based on judicial estoppel because that rule does not apply here. Taylor's assertion that the Idaho Lawyers were liable to him as a client in jointly

⁵ The trial court also dismissed Taylor's Washington CPA claim and found issues of fact on Cairncross' statute of limitations defense, but it did not reach proximate causation under Idaho law or Cairncross' alleged limited scope of representation. CP 56-57, 1064.

representing him and AIA, positions later rejected by the Idaho court, is not inconsistent with the position that Cairneross, too, represented him. Moreover, Cairneross was barred from asserting the equitable defense because of its unclean hands. The trial court also erred by dismissing Taylor's claims for lack of proximate causation by refusing to consider McDermott's opinions when he was a well-recognized expert and Cairneross first asserted Washington law applied in its summary judgment reply. It also erred by not considering Libey's opinions, a well-respected Washington lawyer. The trial court also abused its discretion by denying Taylor's motion to amend, as Cairneross failed to show actual prejudice.

ARGUMENT6

A. The Trial Court Erred by Dismissing Taylor's Claims Based on the Equitable Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel.

"Judicial estoppel is strong medicine, and this has led courts and commentators to characterize the grounds for its invocation in terms of

P.3d 906 (2012); Cotton v. Kronenberg, 111 Wn. App. 258, 264, 44 P.3d 878 (2002) (citations omitted). The burden is on the moving party to offer "factual evidence" that it is entitled to "judgment as a matter of law." Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co., 94 Wn.2d 298,

302, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980); CR 56(c).

⁶ Summary judgment orders and evidentiary rulings made in conjunction with summary judgment are reviewed de novo. Kellar v. Estate of Kellar, 172 Wn. App. 562, 573, 291

⁷ When summary judgment dismissal is granted based on judicial estoppel, this Court engages "in de novo review." Haslett v. Planck, 140 Wn. App. 660, 665, 166 P.3d 866 (2007) (citation omitted). "The burden is on [Cairncross] to establish the elements of estoppel by 'clear and convincing' evidence." Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn. App. 306, 318, 945 P.2d 727 (1997) (citation omitted); Smeilis v. Lipkis, 967 N.E. 2d 892, 898 (II. Ct. App. 2012). Clear and convincing is a proof greater than preponderance or a "high probability," e.g., the proof required for fraud. Dalton v. State, 130 Wn. App. 653, 666, 124 P.3d 305 (2005); 5 WASH. PRAC., EVIDENCE LAW AND PRACTICE § 301.3 (5th ed.).

redolent of intentional wrongdoing." *Miller v. Campbell*, 137 Wn. App. 762, 772, 155 P.3d 154 (2007) (citation omitted). Judicial estoppel is an affirmative defense that must be proven by clear and convincing evidence:

In determining whether the doctrine applies, [this Court] look[s] at three primary considerations: (1) whether a party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) whether judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create the perception that either the first or the second court was misled, and (3) whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped...These factors are not an exhaustive formula and additional considerations may guide a court's decision. These include: (1) The inconsistent position first asserted must have been successfully maintained; (2) a judgment must have been rendered; (3) the positions must have been clearly inconsistent; (4) the parties and questions must be the same; (6) the party claiming estoppel must have been misled and have changed his position; (6) it must appear unjust to one party to permit the other party to change.

Kellar, 172 Wn. App. at 580. The Washington Supreme Court has stated that the six other considerations "are essentials to the establishment of estoppel." *Markley v. Markley*, 31 Wn.2d 605, 614, 198 P.2d 486 (1948).

Here, the trial court erred by considering⁸ and applying judicial estoppel to dismiss Taylor's claims because that defense does not apply

^{8 &}quot;Judicial estoppel is an affirmative defense." *Petock v. Asante*, 240 P.3d 56, 63 (Or. App. 2010). But Cairncross never pleaded judicial estoppel as an affirmative defense. CP 17-24; CR 8(c). Taylor objected to Cairncross' assertion of judicial estoppel and it never sought leave to amend its answer. CP 397, 877-83; RP 36. *Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash. v. Miller*, 87 Wn.2d 70, 76, 549 P.2d 9 (1976). Thus, Cairncross has waived the defense.

here and Cairncross failed to meet its burden. ⁹ CP 34-304, 394-97, 1064. At a minimum, like the heavy burden to prove fraud, genuine issues of material fact required the trier of fact to decide whether the defense was proven by clear and convincing evidence. *Lilly*, 88 Wn. App. at 318; *Lipkis*, 967 N.E. 2d at 898; **WPI 21.01**; **WPI 160.02**. Even though the application of judicial estoppel is reviewed de novo here, the trial court also abused its discretion by applying judicial estoppel because its decision was based on errors of law and untenable grounds and reasons.

1. Taylor Has Not Taken Any Inconsistent Positions.

With respect to the first core element, the trial court's view that Taylor had taken clearly inconsistent positions was erroneous because he never asserted any inconsistent positions in his complaints, testimony or pleadings submitted in the Idaho trial court or in the trial court here. CP 1-15, 74-84, 150-54, 252-97, 389-413, 416-17, 587-95, 747-84, 768-73, 900-11, 967-77, 981, 987-1002, 1015-32, 1033-43, 1064, 1069-81; RP 69-71. Taylor's positions against Cairncross were based on claims pertaining to it being his independent counsel, while his positions against the Idaho Lawyers were largely based on the incorrect third-party opinion letter and

⁹ The trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law over Taylor's objections. CP 1044-66. "Findings of facts and conclusions of law are not necessary on summary judgment and, if made, are superfluous and will not be considered on appeal. A litigant need not assign error to superfluous findings." *Concerned Coupeville Citizens v. Town of Coupeville*, 62 Wn. App. 408, 413, 814 P.2d 243 (1991) (citations omitted); CR 52(a)(5)(B). This Court should disregard those findings of fact and conclusions of law.

their joint representation of him and AIA. *Id.* Taylor's positions, even if accepted in full by both courts, were not inconsistent positions. ¹⁰ *Id.*

In order to be clearly inconsistent, "[t]he positions taken must be diametrically opposed." *Kellar*, 172 Wn. App. at 582; *Bell v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 73 Cal.Rptr.2d 354, 357 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998) (the positions must be "totally inconsistent" or "one [position] necessarily excludes the other") (citations omitted). Washington courts have consistently rejected applying judicial estoppel, even when the positions were inconsistent.

In *Kellar*, the plaintiff obtained gaming licenses by submitting a copy of her prenuptial agreement to the South Dakota Gambling Commission to prove that she was keeping her assets separate from her husband's so that he would not benefit from the licenses. *Kellar*, 172 Wn. App. at 581-82. The Gambling Commission stated in its ruling that the prenuptial agreement was valid and unquestionably relied on that finding. *Id.* at 582. When the plaintiff later asserted that the prenuptial agreement was unenforceable after having successfully obtained the gaming licenses, this Court reversed the trial court's application of judicial estoppel because the plaintiff's positions were not diametrically opposed and the issue of enforceability of the prenuptial agreement was never adjudicated before

¹⁰ The Idaho trial court rejected Taylor's testimony and positions that the Idaho Lawyers jointly represented him and AIA or that they owed him any duties other than through the preparation and delivery of the third-party opinion letter. CP 279-97, 987-1002.

the Gambling Commission. Kellar, 172 Wn. App. at 582-83.

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