70414-1-1 

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

REED TAYLOR, 

Appellant, 

v. 

SCOTT BELL and JANE DOE BELL, and their marital community; 
FRANK TAYLOR and JANE DOE TAYLOR, and their marital 

community; CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, a Professional Service 
Corporation, 

Respondents. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS 

One Union Square 
600 University, 27th Fl. 
Seattle, WA 98101-3143 
(206) 467-1816 

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & 
HELGREN PLLC 

Gregory J. Hollon, WSBA No. 26311 
Avi J. Lipman, WSBA No. 37661 

Attorneys for Respondents 



T ABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. INTRODUCTION ............ ......... ....... .... ... ....... .... .... ................ .. ....... 1

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

show that the prior inconsistent statement was "accepted by the court." Si-

Cor, 107 Wn. App. at 909. Here, the Idaho court-which upheld Taylor's 

right to seek relief against Eberle Berlin-accepted Taylor's allegation 

that he relied exclusively on Eberle Berlin to "to ensure the redemption of 

my shares had all necessary consents and did not violate any laws." CP 

78-79 ~ 7. Indeed, the court, which dismissed certain Idaho defendants and 

other causes of action, endorsed Taylor's allegation of reliance to preserve 

him recourse; i.e., a negligence claim against the opinion letter drafters at 

Eberle Berlin. 13 Put differently, the Idaho court accepted Taylor's 

12 Nor, as a practical matter, would that make any sense. The parties were 
prohibited under ER 605 from deposing Judge Lum on the issue, and it is very 
unlikely the Idaho trial could have been compelled to testify either. See, e.g., 
State ex reI. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12,482 P.2d 775 (1971) ("Only in the 
rarest of circumstances should a judge be called upon to give evidence as to 
matters upon which he has acted in ajudicial capacity .... "). 

13 In its original order, the Idaho trial court ruled: "Riley and Turnbow had a duty 
to [Taylor], as a non-client, to draft the opinion letter in a non-negligent fashion. 
That is, to exercise the ordinary care, skill and prudence of a lawyer under the 
circumstances." CP 286. In its order on the parties' cross-motions for 
reconsideration, the court stated further: "The lawyer issuing the [opinion] letter 
is specifically aware ofthe reliance by the non-client. The universe of potential 
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testimony that Eberle Berlin represented his only potential source of 

recovery. 14As a result, Judge Lum's acceptance of Taylor's contrary 

allegation in Washington would create the perception that either Judge 

Lum's court or the Idaho court was misled. 15 

Taylor further argues that the Idaho court's rejection of his legal 

theory that Eberle Berlin owed him a duty of a care as a client means the 

Idaho court never "accepted" his testimony. This misses the mark. The 

Idaho court in fact concluded that Eberle Berlin owed Taylor a duty of 

care, and that Taylor was entitled to rely on the accuracy of Eberle 

Berlin's opinion letter. CP 268, 1000. In concluding that Taylor was owed 

a duty of care by Eberle Berlin, was entitled to rely on its opinions, and 

may pursue a negligence claim against it, the Idaho court clearly accepted 

Taylor's sworn testimony that he relied exclusively on Eberle Berlin with 

respect to the enforceability of that transaction under Idaho law. 

injured parties is limited to those to whom the letter is addressed. The rule 
proposed by [Eberle Berlin] is tantamount to a grant of immunity to the 
attorney." CP 1000. 

14 That avenue of recourse provides Taylor with the ability to pursue the full 
measure of damages he now seeks against Cairncross. 

15 CHD, Inc. v. Taggart, 153 Wn. App. 94, 104,220 P.3d 229, 234 (2009) is 
consistent with this conclusion. In that case, the Court found no prior "judicial 
acceptance" by a bankruptcy court because the bankruptcy case was "dismissed 
without the implementation of a reorganization plan" and "[t]he bankruptcy was 
not successful." Id. In Taylor's Idaho litigation, however, he prevailed at 
summary judgment on his argument that he has a cause of action against Eberle 
Berlin for relaying inaccurate conclusions in its opinion letter. 
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4. The Trial Court Correctly Applied Judicial Estoppel to 
Prevent Unfairness to Cairncross 

Taylor would unquestionably derive an unfair advantage or impose 

an unfair detriment on Caimcross if not estopped from taking a position 

against Caimcross that contradicts his testimony in Idaho. Taylor's 

arguments to the contrary lack merit. 

To begin with, the very purpose of judicial estoppel is to 

"preclude[] a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position in 

a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly 

inconsistent position." Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc., 

126 Wn. App. 222,224-25, 108 P.3d 147, 148 (2005). That is precisely 

what Taylor attempted to do here, by alleging in his complaint that 

Caimcross negligently performed work Taylor testified previously he had 

delegated exclusively to Eberle Berlin. The advantage Taylor sought by 

doing so is obvious: he hopes to make Caimcross an insurance policy 

against an adverse result in his litigation against Eberle Berlin. 

Moreover, Caimcross ceased representing Taylor nearly two 

decades ago, and performed ably the work with which it was tasked. 

Indeed, to be forced into court so many years later to defend against 

allegations directly contrary to the position Taylor took in Idaho (in order 

to further his claims against Eberle Berlin) epitomizes the notion of 

"unfair detriment." 
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Taylor repeatedly protests that Caimcross did not offer any 

"evidence" of an advantage to Taylor or a detriment to Caimcross. See, 

e.g., Br. at 27-28. The basis of this argument is unclear. Taylor 

indisputably seeks to recover millions of dollars from Caimcross by 

claiming it failed to perform certain work for him in connection with the 

redemption transaction. These funds are the same as those he is continuing 

to pursue from Eberle Berlin in Idaho. Taylor's contradictory assertions

i.e. , his prior testimony in Idaho regarding the scope of Caimcross's 

representation as compared to his allegations against Caimcross here

were both squarely before the trial court when it granted summary 

judgment in Caimcross's favor. The record was amply developed for the 

trial court to apply judicial estoppel under these circumstances. See, e.g., 

Cunningham, 126 Wn. App. at 224-25 (upholding trial court's application 

of judicial estoppel to grant summary judgment in defendant's favor). 

None of the cases Taylor cites supports a contrary result, and each 

is readily distinguishable because (a) the moving party either facilitated 

the non-movant's prior inconsistent statement or slept on its rights; (b) the 

prior statement was the result of mere error; and/or (c) other core factors 

of judicial estoppel were absent. See Kellar v. Estate of Kellar, 172 Wn. 

App. 562, 582-83,291 P.3d 906 (2012) (in wife's action against husband's 

estate challenging validity of prenuptial agreement, no unfair advantage to 

wife or detriment to estate found with respect to wife's prior 
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acknowledgment of prenuptial agreement in an application to the South 

Dakota Gaming Commission, because husband sought benefit for himself 

by urging wife to apply); CHD, Inc. v. Taggart, 153 Wn. App. 94, 106, 

220 P.3d 229, 234 (2009) (where defendant asserting judicial estoppel 

failed to reduce its claim to judgment and execute on it, defendant could 

not later claim such failure "would derive an unfair advantage to [plaintiff] 

or impose an unfair detriment on" him); Seattle First Nat'l Bank v. 

Marshall, 31 Wn. App. 339, 344, 641 P.2d 1194 (1982) (where judicial 

estoppel asserted based on erroneous prior valuation of partnership 

interest, court refused "to correct that error by the application of an 

equitable doctrine which would deprive [non-movant's] estate of the full 

worth of her partnership interest"). 

5. Cairncross Was Not Barred From Asserting Judicial 
Estoppel Under the "Unclean Hands" Doctrine 

Taylor argues that because Caimcross allegedly engaged in the 

unauthorized practice of law, it should have been barred from asserting 

judicial estoppel. Because he raised this argument for the first time in a 

motion for reconsideration challenging the trial court's grant of 

Caimcross's motion for summary judgment, it was not preserved for 

appeal and should therefore be disregarded by this Court. Caimcross was 

fully prepared to contest Taylor's allegation of "unclean hands," including 

through expert testimony from one of Seattle's leading transactional 
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attorneys, Patrick Schultheis of Wilson Sonsini. CP 889-895. Such 

evidence was never required, however, because the trial court properly 

denied Taylor's motion for reconsideration without requesting briefing or 

argument from defense counsel, CP 1090, effectively recognizing that the 

issue of unauthorized practice was irrelevant to Cairncross' s motion. 

Taylor's effort to raise the issue again before this Court fails for at 

least three different reasons: (l) Taylor failed to preserve it for appeal; (2) 

judicial estoppel (unlike other equitable doctrines) is designed to protect 

the integrity of the courts-and thus the question of whether the party 

raising it has "unclean hands" has no bearing on its application; and (3) 

even if this Court were to conclude otherwise, Taylor cannot show the 

required causal relationship between the alleged "dirty hands" conduct 

(i.e., unauthorized practice) and the substance of Cairncross's judicial 

estoppel argument (i.e., Taylor's prior admission that he relied exclusively 

on Eberle Berlin to ensure the lawfulness of the redemption transaction 

under Idaho law). 

a. Taylor Failed to Preserve His "Unclean Hands" 
Theory for Appellate Review 

As a general matter, "[ w ]hen reviewing a grant of summary 

judgment," the Court of Appeals considers "solely the issues and evidence 

the parties called to the trial court's attention on motion for summary 
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judgment." Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Am. Tower, Inc., 173 Wn. App. 154, 

158,293 P.3d 407, 410 (2013) (citing RAP 9.12). Issues raised for the first 

time in a motion for reconsideration may be preserved only when "they 

are not dependent upon new facts and are closely related to and part of the 

original theory." ld. (citing Nail v. Canso!. Res. Health Care Fund I, 155 

Wn. App. 227,232,229 P.3d 885 (2010)). 

Taylor presented his "unclean hands" theory for the first time in a 

motion for reconsideration that challenged the trial court's dismissal of his 

claims on summary judgment. Taylor's motion was supported by two new 

declarations-one from Taylor's counsel Roderick Bond and another from 

expert witness Gary Libey. CP 916-1032; CP 1033-43. Both declarations 

were filed after oral argument on Caimcross's dispositive motion. CP 916, 

1033. Mr. Bond's declaration was 117 pages long (including numerous 

exhibits), and Mr. Libey's declaration was 11 pages long. Id. The trial 

court denied Taylor's motion for reconsideration. CP 1090. 

In short, the "unclean hands" theory Taylor asserted in his motion 

for reconsideration, and that he improperly seeks to assert here, was (1) 

based on new facts that were not presented to the trial court until after oral 

argument on Caimcross's dispositive motion; and (2) unrelated to the 

original theory Taylor asserted in opposition to that motion. For these 

reasons, Taylor failed to preserve the issue and this Court should disregard 
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it. Schreiner Farms, 173 Wn. App. at 158; Canso!. Res. Health Care Fund 

I, 155 Wn. App. at 232. 

b. Judicial Estoppel Protects the Courts-Not 
Litigants 

In any event, the Court need not even reach the question of 

Cairncross's allegedly "unclean hands" in order to reject Taylor's position, 

because whether or not a party has "unclean hands" is irrelevant to the 

application of judicial estoppel. As the United States Supreme Court has 

recognized, the purpose of judicial estoppel is "to protect the integrity of 

the judicial process, by "prohibiting parties from deliberately changing 

positions according to the exigencies of the moment," New Hampshire v. 

Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 749-50, 121 S. Ct. 1808, 1814-15, 149 L. Ed. 2d 968 

(2001) (citing United States v. McCaskey, 9 F.3d 368, 378 (5th Cir. 1993); 

In re Cassidy, 892 F.2d 637, 641 (7th Cir. 1990) ("Judicial estoppel is a 

doctrine intended to prevent the perversion of the judicial process. "); 

Scarano v. Central R. Co., 203 F .2d 510, 513 (3rd Cir. 1953) Uudicial 

estoppel prevents parties from "playing fast and loose with the courts") 

(internal quotation marks omitted)). "Because the rule is intended to 

prevent improper use of judicial machinery, judicial estoppel is an 

equitable doctrine invoked by a court at its discretion," New Hampshire, 
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532 U.S. at 749-50 (citing Russell v. Rolfs, 893 F.2d 1033, 1037 (9th Cir. 

1990) (internal quotation marks omitted)). 

Thus, judicial estoppel differs from other equitable doctrines 

insofar as its application turns on what the trial court determines is 

necessary to protect the integrity of the judicial process, not the interests 

of the party raising the issue. Thus, whether that party has "unclean hands" 

is irrelevant. As one federal district court recently observed: 

Courts have uniformly recognized that the purpose of 
judicial estoppel is to protect the integrity of the judicial 
process by prohibiting parties from deliberately changing 
positions according to the exigencies of the moment. Even 
when one party's hands are unclean, another party's 
inconsistent positions may threaten judicial integrity. See 
Intamin, Ltd. v. Magnetar Technologies Corp., 623 F. 
Supp. 2d 1055, 1074 (C.D.Cal. 2009); see also Milton H 
Greene Archives, Inc. v. Marilyn Monroe, LLC, 692 F.3d 
983, 996 (9th Cir. 2012) .... 

In re Richardson, 497 B.R. 546,558 (Bankr. S.D. Ind. 2013). The weight 

of authority is consistent with Richardson. See, e.g. , Galin v. Goldjischer, 

2008 WL 5484318, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 31,2008) ("[T]he doctrine of 

' unclean hands' does not limit the Court's discretion to apply judicial 

estoppel.); Cricket Commc 'ns, Inc. v. Trillium Indus. , Inc., 235 S.W.3d 

298,309 (Tex. App. 2007) (same). 

c. No Causal Connection 

In Washington, "equity disqualifies a plaintiff with unclean hands 

only where the inequitable behavior is in the very transaction concerning 
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which he complains." Landmark LLC v. Sakai QTIP Trust, 151 Wn. App. 

1003 (2009) (quoting McKelvie v. Hackney, 58 Wn.2d 23, 31, 360 P.2d 

746 (1961 )). In other words, the allegedly "dirty hands" conduct must 

have a "causal relationship with the substance of the equitable claim at 

issue." Id. at 1003 (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Seller 

Agency Council, Inc. v. Kennedy Ctr.for Real Estate Educ., Inc., 621 F.3d 

981,986-87 (9th Cir. 2010) ("It is fundamental to [the] operation of the 

doctrine that the alleged misconduct by the [party] relate directly to the 

transaction concerning which the complaint is made ... [U]nclean hands 

does not constitute misconduct in the abstract. .. ") (internal quotation 

marks omitted). 

Here, the prior statement upon which Cairncross relied to assert 

judicial estoppel consisted of Taylor denying that he had relied on any 

counsel other than Eberle Berlin "to ensure the redemption of my shares 

had all necessary consents and did not violate any laws." CP 78-79 ~ 7. 

Thus, with respect to determining whether AlA met the solvency 

requirements of I.C. § 30-1-6 and was authorized to proceed with the 

transaction, Taylor simultaneously disclaimed any reliance on Cairncross 

and confirmed that Eberle Berlin had sole responsibility for those issues. 

This, of course, was consistent with Bell's prior sworn testimony-which 

Taylor offered in support of his claims against AlA-that "[w]ithout 
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access to the confidential books, records and proceedings of [AlA], and 

not being a licensed Idaho lawyer, my firm was not in a position to make 

these determinations" (i .e., "to analyze whether, with respect to AlA 

Services Corporation, the transactions were authorized, complied with 

applicable Idaho laws, triggered complications with third parties, etc."). 

CP 1331 ~ 8. 

Thus, even if Caimcross engaged in unauthorized practice (an 

allegation it hotly disputes), it indisputably did not do so with respect to 

the issues underlying Taylor's theories of liability in this lawsuit; i.e., the 

alleged failures to spot the illegality of the redemption transaction under 

I.C. § 30-1-6 and to ensure AlA took corporation action sufficient to 

render the transaction legal. 16 Indeed, Taylor conceded that the alleged 

unauthorized practice was unrelated to any of his alleged damages. CP 

408. Moreover, Bell-in a declaration solicited in 2009 by Taylor and on 

which Taylor relied in Idaho- forthrightly admitted that he was not 

licensed in Idaho, and that his inability to opine on issues of Idaho law 

was precisely why it was necessary to obtain an opinion letter from Idaho

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